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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

ADB Loan/Grant No. 
& Project Name 

 

Contract No. & 
Description 

 

Supplier/Contractor 
Name 

 

Contract Amount  

Prepared By  

Date  

Reviewed/Noted By  

Date  
 

Guidance: 
The responsibility for the implementation of the project, and for the award and administration of 
contracts under the project financed or supported by ADB, rests with the borrower.  The 
executing agency, implementing agency, project management unit, and project implementation 
unit have the responsibility to maintain the trust of the vendor community and ADB in the 
procurement system, by conducting procurement in an accountable, objective, impartial and 
transparent manner.    
 
The purpose of this checklist is (i) to establish whether procurement of goods and civil works 
under international competitive bidding (ICB) followed the salient requirements of ADB’s 
Procurement Guidelines, including ADB’s Evaluation Guide; and (ii) to ensure that measures 
are being taken to mitigate opportunities for fraud, corruption, and abuse of resources in ADB-
financed and –administered/-supported projects. 
 
Ideally, this checklist should be accomplished for each ICB contract by the key project 
procurement staff of the executing agency, implementing agency or the project management 
unit. 

 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

A. Bid Preparation and Invitation 
1 Was the ICB procurement made in 

accordance with the Loan Agreement 
and approved procurement plan? 
 

  

  If not, did we have appropriate 
justification and approval from ADB 
for this ICB procurement? 

 

 Indicate justification and approving authority. 

  If this ICB procurement was not in 
accordance with the Loan 
Agreement and approved 
procurement plan, was the 
procurement plan appropriately 
updated? 

 Indicate date when the procurement plan was 
updated. 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

 

2 Was the Invitation for Bid (IFB) 
approved by ADB? 

 Indicate date of ADB’s approval of the IFB. 
 

  Were the deadline and place for 
receipt of bids specified in the IFB? 

 

 Indicate deadline and place of receipt of bids 
indicated in the IFB. 

  Did we advertise this ICB 
procurement in accordance with the 
required media (i.e., newspaper of 
national circulation or an 
internationally known and freely 
accessible website in English)? 

 

 Indicate media used to advertise this ICB 
procurement.  If advertised in a website, 
indicate website address. 

  Did we keep a hard copy of the 
advertisement? 

 

  

3 Were the standard bidding documents 
issued to bidders reviewed and 
approved by ADB? 
 

 Indicate date of ADB’s approval. 

  Did we review the standard bidding 
documents issued to bidders to 
ensure that these were the same 
documents approved by ADB? 

 

 Indicate ADB comments/requirements not 
incorporated in the bidding documents and 
justification for not taking them up. 

4 Were there any amendments made to 
the standard bidding documents after 
these were issued to the bidders? 
 

 Indicate amendments made. 

  If amendments were made, were 
these changes approved by ADB? 

 

  

5 Did we record/log the information of 
bidders who purchased the ICB 
bidding documents? 
 

 Indicate the (i) fee for the bidding documents, 
and (ii) number of bidders who purchased 
bidding documents. 
 

B. Bids Received 
6 Was there a pre-bid conference/ 

meeting and site visits arranged for the 
bidders? 
 

 If none, indicate reason(s). 

7 Were there requests for clarification, 
additional information and/or 
correction of errors in the standard 
bidding documents from bidders? 
 

  

  Were these requests from bidders 
made in writing? 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

  Were our consolidated responses 
to requests for clarification, 
additional information and/or 
correction of errors from bidders 
made in writing? 

 

  

  Do we have evidence that our 
consolidated responses or changes 
to bid documents were sent out and 
received by all bidders who 
purchased bidding documents? 

 

  

8 If there was extension of the bid 
submission deadline, was this 
approved by ADB? 
 

 Indicate how many times bid submission 
deadline was extended and reasons therefore. 

  Did we communicate in writing the 
new deadline to bidders who 
purchased bidding documents in 
writing? 

 

 If not, indicate how this was communicated to 
the prospective bidders. 

9 Did we have a register/logbook to 
records bid received, date and time 
received, and signature of those who 
submitted, where applicable? 
 

 Indicate how many bids were received for this 
ICB procurement. 

  If we received less than three bids 
for this ICB procurement, did we 
rebid? 

 

 If rebid was not done, indicate reason(s). 

10 Did we return the bids received after 
the deadline for submission to the 
bidder(s) unopened? 
 

 Indicate how many late bids were received.  

C. Bid Opening 
11 Were the time and place for bid 

opening the same as the deadline or 
promptly thereafter as announced in 
the invitation to bid? 
 

 If not, indicate reason. 
Indicate date, time and place of bid opening. 

12 Did we prepare a record of bid 
opening? 
 

  

  Did the record of bid opening 
contain as a minimum the following 
information: (i) name of bidder and 
address, (ii) bid security amount, 
(iii) bid amount, (iv) discounts 
offered, if any, (v) alternative bids, if 

 Indicate which information was not recorded. 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

allowed, and (vi) signature of 
bidder’s representatives? 

 

  Was the bid opening record signed 
by all bid opening committee 
members (or persons responsible 
for the bid opening)? 

 

 Indicate who among the bid opening committee 
members did not sign the bid opening record. 

  Was there a bid opening 
attendance sheet to support the bid 
opening record, duly signed by 
each of the bidders’ representatives 
who attended the bid opening? 

 

 Indicate bidders’ representatives who attended 
the bid opening but did not sign the attendance 
sheet. 

  Was a copy of the bid opening 
record sent to ADB and all bidders 
whose bids were opened? 

 

 Indicate date when a copy of the bid opening 
record was sent to ADB and bidders. 

D. Determination of Substantial Responsiveness of Bids 
13 Do we have a record of the 

establishment of the bid evaluation 
committee for this ICB? 
 

 Indicate date of establishment of the bid 
evaluation committee and list composition of 
the committee. 

 Did we receive assistance from 
supervision consultants in evaluating 
bids? 

 Indicate the extent of assistance provided by 
the supervision consultants in the evaluation of 
bids. 
 

14 Based on the review of the 
spreadsheet/table of completeness of 
bid documents and the bid 
submissions: 
 

 were arithmetical errors, if any, 
corrected? 

 

 Indicate bids with arithmetical errors that were 
not corrected.  Indicate corrected price. 

  did the bid securities of the bidders 
meet the bid security requirement? 

 

 Indicate bidder(s) whose bid security did not 
meet the requirement. 

  were bidders who did not meet the 
bid security requirement 
disqualified? 

 

 If bidders who did not meet the bid security 
requirement were not disqualified, indicate 
reason(s). 

  did we seek clarification/ 
endorsement from ADB not to 
disqualify bidders with bid 
securities that did not meet the 
requirement? 

 
 

 Indicate ADB’s response and date thereof. 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

  did the bidders meet the eligibility 
criteria specified in the standard bid 
documents? 

 

 Indicate bidders that did not meet the eligibility 
criteria but were considered as responsive.  
Indicate reason(s). 

  was there written confirmation of 
authorization to sign on behalf of 
each bidder? 

 

 Indicate bidders that did not have written 
confirmation of authorization to sign on behalf 
of the bidder but were considered as 
responsive. Indicate reason(s). 
 

  were original and copies of the bid 
form and price schedules signed by 
a person authorized to sign on 
behalf of the bidder? 

 

 Indicate which bids had their bid forms and 
price schedules that were not signed but were 
considered as responsive.  Indicate reason(s). 

  were all pages of the bid signed or 
initialed by the bidder’s authorized 
representative? 

 

 Indicate bids where not all pages had been 
signed or initialed by the bidder’s authorized 
representative. 

  in case of amendments such as 
interlineations, erasures, or 
overwriting in bids submitted, were 
these signed or initialed by the 
authorized representative? 

 

 Indicate bids with amendments that were not 
signed/initialed by the authorized 
representative. 

15 Based on my review of the 
spreadsheet/table of substantial 
responsiveness and bid submissions: 
 

 were all bids checked for 
substantial responsiveness to 
commercial terms and conditions 
and technical requirements? 

 

 Indicate bids that were not checked for 
substantial responsiveness.  Indicate 
reason(s). 

  were there bidders that did not 
have the ability to meet critical 
delivery schedule or work schedule 
requirements but were considered 
responsive? 

 

 List bidders that did not meet the critical 
delivery schedule or work schedule 
requirements but considered responsive.  
Indicate reason(s). 

  for goods, were there 
manufacturers or suppliers or both 
that failed to comply with minimum 
experience criteria as specified in 
the bid documents but were 
considered responsive? 

 

 List bidders with manufacturers/ suppliers that 
failed to comply with minimum experience 
criteria but considered responsive.  Indicate 
reason(s). 

  were there conditional bids that 
were accepted (e.g., acceptance of 
award subject to government’s 
approval for export, prior sale or 

 List bidders with conditional bids that were 
accepted.  Indicate reason(s) for acceptance. 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

availability of critical material in 
market, or bid submitted with price 
escalation condition when a fixed 
price is specified). 

 

  were there bidders that did not 
accept the price adjustment formula 
indicated in the standard bid 
documents but were considered 
responsive? 

 

 List bidders that did not accept the price 
adjustment formula indicated in the standard 
bid documents but were considered 
responsive.  Indicate reason(s) for declaring 
them as responsive. 
 

  were there major supporting 
documents required by the 
standard bid documents to be 
submitted to determine substantial 
responsiveness of the bid? 

 

 List these major supporting documents 
required to be submitted by the bidders. 

 o were there bidders who did not 
submit all major documents 
required to be submitted to 
determine the substantial 
responsiveness of the bid but 
were considered as responsive? 

 

 List these bidders.  Indicate reason(s) for 
declaring them as responsive. 

  were there bidders that that did not 
bid for the required scope of work 
but were considered as 
responsive? 

 

 Indicate bidders including the scope of work 
they failed to bid for and considered 
responsive.  Indicate reason(s) for considering 
them responsive. 
 

  were there bidders that did not 
quote for a major item 
(approximately 10% or more of the 
total bid price or, if omitted, makes 
the bid substantially incomplete) in 
the package but were considered 
responsive? 

 

 Indicate these bidders, the major item omitted 
and reason(s) for considering them responsive. 

  were there bidders that did not 
meet major technical requirements 
specified in the standard bid 
documents (e.g., offering 
completely different types specified; 
plant capacity well below minimum 
specified; equipment not able to 
perform the basic functions as 
intended, etc.) but were considered 
responsive? 

 

 List these bidders, major technical 
requirements not met, and reason(s) for 
considering them responsive. 

  were there bidders that did not 
submit type-test reports for critical 

 List these bidders and reason(s) for 
considering them responsive. 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

equipment as specified in the 
standard bid documents but were 
considered responsive? 

 

E. Detailed Bid Evaluation 
16 Did the detailed evaluation include all 

substantially responsive bids which 
have a reasonable chance of 
becoming the lowest evaluated bid? 
 

 List substantially responsive bids that were not 
included in the detailed evaluation.  Indicate 
reason(s) for exclusion. 

17 Based on my review of the 
spreadsheet/table of detailed 
evaluation and bidders’ submissions 
for civil works: 
 

 did the detailed evaluation include: 
o analysis of unit rates of all 

responsive bidders and 
estimates? 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
If no analysis of unit rates and estimates was 
prepared, indicate reason(s). 

 o analysis of plans and schedules 
(construction and mobilization 
schedules, construction 
methods and approach, human 
resources and equipment 
schedules, plans for contractor’s 
site organization and contract 
management, etc.)? 

 

 List bidders whose plans and schedules were 
not analyzed.  Indicate reason(s). 

 o analysis of proposed equipment 
and staffing. 

 

 List bidders whose proposed equipment and 
staffing were not analyzed.  Indicate reason(s). 
 

 o were there identical supplier/ 
contractor staff names and 
equipment for bids received for 
this ICB procurement? 

 

 List bids with identical supplier/contractor staff 
names and equipment (potential collusion 
among bidders). 

18 Based on the analysis of unit rates and 
estimates in item 17 above: 
 

 were many unit rates of a group of 
bidders either identical or 
apparently artificially set? 

 

  
 
 
Indicate bidders with many identical or 
apparently artificially set unit rates (potential 
collusion among bidders). 

  were there identical unit prices in 
the bid price when compared with 
unit prices in the executing 
agency’s cost estimates? 

 
 

 Indicate bidders with identical unit prices in the 
executing agency’s cost estimates (potential 
collusion between bidders and executing 
agency staff) 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

19 Were bid prices below cost estimate?  Indicate bidders with prices below cost 
estimate and their bid prices. 
 

20 For goods, based on the copy of the 
table/spreadsheet on “Salient Features 
of Bids to Technical Requirements” 
and bid submissions, were the scope 
of supply, technical information and 
technical data submitted by the 
bidders scrutinized in detail and a 
comparison carried out with the 
technical requirements of the standard 
bid documents? 
 

 If not done, indicate reason(s) and basis for 
evaluation. 

21 Based on my review, is the coverage 
of the bid evaluation report consistent 
with the evaluation of qualification 
criteria in the bid documents? 
 

 If not, indicate which qualification criteria in the 
bid document were not covered by the bid 
evaluation report and vice versa. 

  Based on the documents submitted 
by bidders for each criterion to be 
evaluated and the bid evaluation 
committee’s assessment per the 
bid evaluation report: 

 
o Was the experience criteria 

appropriately evaluated for all 
bidders? (e.g., financial 
capacity, pending litigation, 
etc.)  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
If not, indicate deficiencies in evaluation. 

 o Was the criteria relating to 
average annual turnover, net 
worth, and financial capacity 
appropriately evaluated and 
validated against audited 
financial statements 
submitted? 

 

 If not, indicate deficiencies in evaluation. 

 o Were financial resources 
verified for 
legitimacy/authenticity (e.g., 
credit line, etc)? 

 

 Validation of authenticity of credit line may 
include inquiring with the issuing bank the 
accuracy and legitimacy of information 
provided in the letter of credit.  

 o Was the criterion on pending 
litigation appropriately 
evaluated and validated 
against the notes to financial 
statements, if any? 

 

 If not, indicate deficiencies. 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

  If the qualification criteria were not 
appropriately evaluated, should the 
declared winning bidder have won 
the contract? 

 

 If not, indicate which bidder should have been 
awarded the contract and reason(s) therefore. 

22 Were adequate supporting documents 
available to review the evaluation 
procedures? 
 

 Indicate which documents are not available. 

  Did we use original bid submissions 
to review the evaluation process? 

 

  

  Are there unusual corrections/ 
changes/alterations on the bids 
after these were opened? 

 

  

23 In the process of evaluation, did the 
EA or bid evaluation committee 
correspond with the bidder(s) to seek 
clarification(s)? 
 

  

  If so, are records on all 
clarifications sought and received 
kept? 

 

 Indicate details of those not kept. 

24 Were minutes of evaluation meeting 
signed by all evaluation committee 
members? 
 

 Indicate members who did not sign, and 
reasons for not affixing signature(s). 

  Was the bid evaluation report 
signed by all bid evaluation 
committee members? 

 

 Indicate members who did not sign. 

  Did the bid evaluation report 
contain comprehensive information 
to justify cases where supposedly 
non-responsive bidders (based on 
my review) were considered as 
responsive? 

 

  

25 In case of rebidding, was the 
justification reasonable? 
 

 Indicate justification for rebidding. 

  Was ADB’s approval obtained 
before rebidding? 

 
 
 
 

 If not, indicate justification for not seeking 
ADB’s approval. 
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CHECKLIST 3: EA INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING PROCUREMENT CHECKLIST 
 

No. Questions 
Y, N, 
or NA 

Remarks/For Action 

F. Contract Award and Implementation 
26 Was the contract awarded after ADB’s 

no objection? 
 

 Indicate dates of ADB’s no objection and 
contract award. 

27 Was adequate performance security 
provided prior to contract award? 
 

  

  Was the performance security 
validated for authenticity? 

 

 Validation of authenticity may include inquiring 
with the issuing bank the accuracy and 
legitimacy of information provided in the 
security document.  

28 Did the winning bidder provide 
significantly lower price than the cost 
estimate? 
 

 Indicate contract price vis-à-vis cost estimate. 

  In case of substantially low price, 
were there contract variations/ 
change orders submitted? 

 

 Indicate if change order/variation orders 
increased the quantity and price – and 
justifications therefore. 

 




